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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of
Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment - KPSC
Kuwait

Repott on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment
- KPSC (“the Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial
petformance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further desctibed in the Anditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Acconntants TESBA Code), and we have fulfilled
out ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and approptiate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 6.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the possible material
effects of uncertainty with respect to the Group’s exposure in Lebanon. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These mattets were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of financial assets at FVTPL and FVT'OCI

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) include significant unquoted investments. Due to their unique
structure and terms, the valuation of these instruments is based either on external independent valuations or
on entity-developed internal models. Therefore, there is significant measurement uncertainty involved in
valuations. As a result, the valuations of these instruments was significant to our audit. We have, therefore,
spent significant audit efforts in assessing the appropriateness of the valuations and underlying assumptions.
The Group’s disclosures about its financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI are included in Notes 14, 17 and
35.2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Arzan Financial Group for Financing
and Investment - KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our audit procedures included agreeing carrying value of the unquoted investments to the Group’s internal or
external valuations prepared using valuation techniques, assessing and challenging the appropriateness of
estimates, assumptions and valuation methodology and obtained supporting documentation and explanations
to corroborate the valuations.

Equity Method investments

The Group has interests in number of associates which are significant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements which are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
Group’s interests in the associates are initially stated at cost, and are adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates, less any impairment. The complexity of the
Group’s control environment and our ability as Group’s auditor to obtain an appropriate level of understanding
of these entities including any related party transactions. Due to these factors and the significance of the
investment in associates to the Group’s consolidated financial statements we consider this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, among others, determining the nature and extent of audit procedures to be
carried out for associates and selecting significant associates based on the size and/or risk profile of these
entities. During our audit we communicated with the component auditors. We also provided instructions to
the component auditors covering the significant areas and risks to be addressed including the identification of
related parties and transactions. Furthermore, we evaluated the Group’s methodology and testing of the key
assumptions used by the Group in determining the associates’ recoverable amount based on value-in-use. We
also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosutes in Notes 4.14 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other information included in the Group’s Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Group’s Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our Auditot’s report
thereon. We obtained the teport of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the date of our Auditor’s
report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our Auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this Auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud ot error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Arzan Financial Group for Financing
and Investment - KPSC (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can atise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exetcise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, ot the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a matetial
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are thetefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our Auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Arzan Financial Group for Financing
and Investment - KPSC (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Compimy and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that
we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation
and Atticles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly cartied out and that, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law, the Executive Regulations, ot of the Parent
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the
Parent Company.

We further report, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of provisions of the Law No. 7 of
2010 regarding Capital Markets Authority (“CMA”) and its relevant regulations have occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the
Parent Company.

We further report, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of provisions of the Law No. 32 of
1968 concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of the banking business and its
relevant regulations have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a matetial
effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CPA)
(Licence No. 94-A)
of Grant Thotnton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
30 March 2021
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2020 2019
KD KD
Income
Income from instalment credit debtors 7 662,048 1,595,269
Revenue from contracts with customers 8 1,781,427 2,963,334
Realised profit from instalment sales 579,886 245,158
Rental income 142,615 149,737
Interest income 480,592 955,584
(Loss)/gain on sale of financial assets at FVTPL (1,258,078) 845,937
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (926,161) 3,256,259
Share of results of associates 18.4 1,767,796 1,973,274
Dividend income 11 2,421,558 2,259,890
Gain on foreign currency exchange 42,346 60,096
Other income 120,807 222.334
5,814,836 14,526,872
Expenses and other charges
Staff costs (2,838,336) (3,062,993)
General and administrative expenses (1,594,491) (1,705,311)
Finance costs 9 (1,667,255) (2,111,098)
Depreciation 20 & 21 (452,969) (438,693)
Provision for instaiment credit debtors, net 13 (471,335) (2,491,994)
Impairment of investment in real estate under development 19 (134,160) -
Provision for properties held for trading 16 (199,100) (117,140)
Impairment of financial assets at FVTOC! - (1,848,304)
Impairment loss of associate 18 (4,567,654) -
Provision for doubtful debts 15 (638,002) (211,328)
Provision of credit losses for restricted cash and cash equivalents 12.2 (2,408,180) (1,000,000)

(14,971,482)

(12,986,861)

(L.oss)/profit for the year before provisions for contribution to
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences

(KFAS), Zakat and National Labour Support Tax (NLST) (9,156,646) 1,540,011

(Loss)/profit for the year (9,156,646) 1,540,011
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Parent Company (9,511,226) 1,095,948
Non-controlling interests 354,580 444,063
(Loss)/profit for the year (9,156,646) 1,540,011
Basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the

shareholders of the Parent Company (Fils) 10 (12.005) 1.375
Dituted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the

shareholders of the Parent Company (Fils) 10 (11.975) 1.375

The notes set out on pages 12 1o 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Arvzan Financie! Sroup for Finonelng and lnvestment - KPSU and Bs Subshifavies
Consolkinied Finonolal Statements
31 Dovombey 2RAG

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

[

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
(Loss)/profit for the year (9,156,646) 1,540,011
Other comprehensive income:
Iltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of
profit or loss:
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
- Net change in fair value arising during the year 20,586,899 (5,783,928)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of
profit or loss:

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
- Net change in fair value arising during the year 8,754 216,086
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 110,950 43,435
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates (21,694) (121,278)
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 20,684,909 (5,645,685)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 11,528,263 (4,105,674)
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Parent Company (1,052,304) (4,435,575)
Non-controlling interests 12,580,567 329,901
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 11,528,263 (4,105,674)

The notes set out on pages 12 to 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment - KPSC and its Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2020 2019
KD KD

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12.1 11,338,787 7,898,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 12.2 1,297,562 2,577,267
Instalment credit debtors 13 622,849 4,128,653
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14 11,503,238 14,504,859
Accounts receivable and other assets 15 4,049,853 4 968,961
Properties held for trading 16 707,040 906,140
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 17 87,866,823 66,501,483
Investment in associates 18 28,761,646 44 631,874
Investment in real estate under development 19 5,390,667 5,313,674
Investment properties 20 1,537,724 1,596,464
Property and equipment 21 2,321,498 2,639,614
Total assets 155,397,687 155,667,913
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to banks - 1,830,923
Accounts payable and other liabilities 22 7,320,238 13,671,885
Term loans 23 11,368,250 17,974,500
Murabaha payables 24 12,601,322 12,128,670
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 1,484,962 1,481,816
Total liabilities 32,774,772 47,187,794
Equity
Share capital 25 80,288,256 80,288,256
Share premium 25 23,803,273 23,803,273
Treasury shares 26 (1,202,430) (559,232)
Legal reserve 27 503,767 503,767
Voluntary reserve 27 503,767 503,767
Staff bonus shares reserve 28 18,205 -
Foreign currency franslation reserve (198,268) (297,691)
Fair value reserve 4,045,655 (4,299,739)
Accumulated losses (10,917,532) (1,291,103)
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent

Company 96,844,693 98,651,298
Non-controlling interests 25,778,222 9,828,821
Total equity 122,622,915 108,480,119
Total liabilities and equity 155,397,687 155,667,913

l By

Jassem Hasan L.alna

Vice chairman and CEO

The notes set ont on pages 12 to 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



“Spuantagvls onuvulf pagppyosuos osayy o 1vd joisapuz up witof 77 01 7} $950d 1o 110 15 sajou ag |

16'229°TZL  2I2'8LL'ST £69'P¥896  (T€SZL60L)  SS9'SVO‘Y (g9z‘g6L)  S02'8l 191°€0S 192'c06  (0ev'z0Z‘L) €£L2'c08‘ce 95C°88Z‘08 0Z0Z 19qwada(q L¢ je asuejeg

= z = SoL'vL (s0L'v1) - - & - - - - ID0.LA4
1e s}esse |eloueuly Jo |esodsip uo uies

£92°'875°LL  295'08S‘CL (vogizso‘l)  (9Zz'Lis'e)  66¥°65E‘S £Iv'e6 - 2 - - - - Jeak
ay1 1o} {sS0})/oWwooUl daaIsusyaudwod (1o |

606‘V89°0C  186°GZ2°CL TI6'8SY'S - 66¥'65¢'8 £Z¥'66 - = - : - - Jeak sy} 1o} aWooUl aAIsuBYBIdWIoD JBYI0
9p9‘95L'6)  085'PSE (9zz'115'6)  (92Z°LlS'8) - - - - - - - - Jeak sy 1oy Jyoid/(sso)
££6‘V1L9°T yeg'gac‘s  (L0£'vSL) (sog‘sz1) - - S0Z'8l - - (s6L‘ck9) - = siaployaleys yim suoloesuel) [ejo |
861'ch9) - (861cy9) - - - - - - (s6L'cv9) - - saieys Ainsesy) Jo sseydind
S0Z'8l - S0Z'8l - = J 50Z°81L - - - - - (gz @10u) sjuswied paseqg-aleys Jo 10D
pop oLv'e vobolv'e - - = = - - P = - - (€719 sj0u) AleipISgns e Jo Judysiige)sa
uo Buislie }salopl Bul||0JU0d-UON
- 80¢621 (gog'6z1) (80¢°6Z1) - - - - - - - - (z'1°9 8j0U)

Aeipisgns e uf 1salaul jeiped jo jesodsiq

876°'9€2) (826‘9£2) - - - - - - - - - - s1saJalul Bulj|osuoo-uou 0} pred puspialg
6L1'08V°80L 1Z8'828°6  86Z°159'86  (£0L°16Z°L)  (egL'66T'¥)  (1L69°26Z) - 192°¢0§ 192'c06  (z€T'6SS)  €£12°¢08'cz 952'882°08 6102 loqwada( L¢ Je soueleq

aM ax aM ax ax ad a aM a ax am a
jejol s}salojul |elol-ang S9880| OAIBSOA SAIOSAI JAIDSAI AAIDSD) JAlDSal saleys E:_Em._n_ _Na_amo
Bujjjosuoo pale|nwnody an|eA lle4 uone|suesy juswAhed Alejunjop jebay Ainseas| aleysg areys
-UON AouaLno paseq
ubieio4 aleyg

Auedwon jualed ay} jo siapjoyaieys ayj 0} ajqeinqupe Ajunbg
funba ui sabueyd Jo Juawaje)s pajepljosuo)

LERISTy




“SpusmaIris [pnvylf pagppiosuos ooy Jo pnd jpisenr up wof 7, op 7| $a3vd o 10 155 segou 8 T

611'087'80} 128'8Z8'6  867°1G9'86 {coL'LeZ't) (6eL'66Z'y)  (169'£62) 192'€0S 192'¢05  (2€2'659) £/2'¢08'€C  957'882'08 6102 19qws23(Q L e dduejeqg
- z - (66£'689'¢) 66£'689'¢ - - - - - - IDOLA4 1e SI9SSE [2I1oUBUY JO [BSOdS!P U0 $S07]
(r19's0L'y)  L06'6CE (G15'ser'y) 8¥6'G60'1 (r€2'ess's) LLz'oz - - - - - 1eak ay) 1o} (SSO])/eWodUl aAISUsSysIdwoo (810 |
(689's¥9's)  (zol'vLL) (ez6'1e6'G) - (rez'zes's) L1202 = = - = = Jeak 8y} 1o} ($S0])/8WO00UI BAISUBYBIAWOD JBYI0
LLOOYS'L €90 iy 8¥6°G60'L 8¥6'G60'L - - - 3 - = - 1Bk ay) Jos Woid
8/1'¢ey z21'2665 (y¥6'8G1) (y¥6'851) - - - - - - - SISP|oyaIeys YlIM SUOHOBSURI] |10 |
Sv2'169 Gp2'/69 - s E - - - - = - Aielpisgns
o abejusoiad diysisumo ur abueyd §o Joay3
- v6'851 {rv6'851) {rv6'851) - - - - - - - (Z19
ajou) Alelpisgns e ul }salajul jeiped jo fesodsiqg
(£90'v92) (£90'792) - - - - - - - - - sjsauaiul Butjjouoo-uou o} pled pusplalg
GL9'z6L'ZLL  86/'906'8  LL8'GPZ'COL  Z6ZLOv'L (vos'ocr'e)  (zov'sle) 191'208 191'¢0§  (2£7'659) €/2'c08'c 952'882'08 8107 Jequiada( ¢ e soueleg
aM ax ax a a aM ay ax aM ax ax
|eyol sjsataul |ejol-qng (sesso| ELVELTT EINELET] 9AIDsal dAlasal saleys wnjwaid leyiden
Buijjosuod paje|nwnoaoe) anjea e uojje|sueds) Aejunjop jeba Ainseal] aleys aleys
-UoN /sBujuies Aouaind
pauielay uBialog

Auedwio jualed ay3 Jo sispioyaieys ayj 0} a|qenqupe Ajinbg

(penunuod) Ajinba ul sabueyd jo Juswajels pajepIosuo)

GEGE ABQRNnEE 1Y

Gipan




sancing sngd nvestment ~ KPB and e Subshiliaries R
Stutomeoents
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2020 2019
KD KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit for the year (9,156,646) 1,540,011
Adjustments:
Interest income (480,592) (955,584)
Dividend income 11 (2,421,558) (2,259,890)
Impairment of investment in real estate under development 19 134,160 -
Provision for properties held for trading 16 199,100 117,140
Share of results of associates 18.4 (1,767,796) (1,973,274)
Impairment loss of associate 4,567,654 -
Provision for instalment credit debtors, net 13 471,335 2,491,994
Impairment of financial assets at FVTOCI - 1,848,304
Provision for doubtful debts 15 638,002 211,328
Finance costs 9 1,667,255 2,111,098
Depreciation 20 & 21 452,969 438,693
Cost of share based payment 18,205 -
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 104,294 178,976
Provision of credit losses for restricted cash and cash equivalents 12.2 2,408,180 1,000,000

(3,165,438) 4,748,796
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Instalment credit debtors 3,034,469 1,283,707
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,001,621 (4,657,085)
Accounts receivable and other assets 390,252 (544,103)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (6,267,761) 6,635,918
Employees’ end of service benefits paid (101,148) (66,737)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (3,108,005) 7,400,496
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment 21 (74,006) (193,781)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI (10,486,356) (17,936,865)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTOCI 13,097,251 4 569474
Additions on investments in real estate under development 19 (157,188) (133,828)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 12.2 (1,128,475) (3,5677,267)
Dividend income received 2,421,558 2,259,890
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale 18.1.1 12,015,000 -
Dividend from associates 18 1,033,677 743,629
Interest income received 480,592 511,234
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 17,202,053 (13,757,514)

The notes set out on pages 12 to 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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31 Decasmber 2020

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2020 2019
KD KD

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Term loans obtained 6,430,200 4,951,500
Repayment of term loans (13,029,500) (4,856,000)
Murabaha payables obtained 5,100,000 9,412,624
Repayment of Murabaha payables (4,671,631) (1,749,850)
Finance costs paid (1,751,141) (2,124,505)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (236,928) (264,067)
Purchase of treasury shares (643,198) -
Change in ownership percentage of subsidiary - 697,245
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (8,802,198) 6,066,947
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,291,850 (290,071)
Foreign currency adjustments 78,936 (96,011)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 121 5,968,001 6,354,083
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12.1 11,338,787 5,968,001
Non-cash transactions:
Accounts receivable and other assets - (673,062)
Accounts payables and other liabilities - (72,099)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI (3,476,454) -
Non-controlling interests arising on establishment of a subsidiary 3,476,454 -

The notes set out on pages 12 fo 72 form an integral part of these consolidated financial siatements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities

Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment — KPSC (the “Parent Company”) was incorporated in
Kuwait on 15 April 1980 in accordance with the Companies Law under the name of International Transport
Equipment Company — KKSC (Closed). On 14 December 1996 an extraordinary general assembly resolved to
change the name of the Parent Company to International Murabaha Company — KSC (Closed). Later, on 24
Aptil 2002 an extraordinary general assembly resolved to change the name of the Parent Company to
International Finance Company — KPSC and to expand its permitted activities.

The extraordinary general assembly held on 24 July 2013 approved to change the name of the Parent Company
from International Finance Company — IKSCC to Arzan Financial Group for Financing and Investment — IKPSC
which has been registered in the commercial register under No. 29629 on 11 November 2013.

The Parent Company is listed on the Boursa Kuwait and is governed under the directives of the Central Bank
of Kuwait and the Capital Markets Authority.

The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The
details of the subsidiaries are described in note 6.

The Parent Company’s objectives are as follows:

- Invest in various economic sectors through the incorporation or participation in the incorporation of
various companies or institutions practicing similar or complementary activities to the company’s
objectives for its account and for the account of third parties inside or outside the State of Kuwait.

- Manage local or foreign various companies and institutions and market the investment services and
products owned by them or by third parties inside or outside the State of Kuwait.

- Own and acquire the right of disposal of whatever it deems necessary thereto of movable and
immovable property or any parts thereof or any franchising rights the company deems they are
necessary or appropriate to the nature of its activity or to the development of its funds, excluding
trading in goods for its account.

- Conduct all business related to securities trading for its account and for the account of third parties
inside or outside the State of Kuwait, including sale, purchase and marketing of securities of shares and
sulkuks and other securities issued by local and foreign government and private companies, institutions
and bodies and practice the related financial mediation and brokerage activities.

- Manage the funds of individuals and local or foreign public and private companies, institutions and
bodies and invest these funds in various economic sectors through investment and real estate portfolios
inside or outside the State of Kuwait.

- Provide economic advice related to investment and hold courses, issue brochures of various
investment activities for individuals, local and foreign companies and institutions.

- Prepare and provide technical, economic and assessment studies and consultations and prepare
feasibility studies for various investment activities and other studies, examining the technical, financial
and administrative aspects related to these activities for its account or for the account of third parties

inside or outside the State of Kuwait.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Incorporation and activities (continued)

- Establish and manage the collective investment systems and local and foreign investment funds of all
kinds and contribute to their establishment for the account of the company and for the account of
third parties in accordance with the regulating laws, rules and conditions specified by the competent
regulatory authorities; put its stakes or units to subscription so that the company’s contributions to the
share capital of the collective investment system or the investment fund shall not be less than the
minimum limit specified by the regulatory authorities; sell or purchase stakes or units in the local or
foreign collective investment systems or investment funds for its account and for the account of third
parties or market same, provided the necessary approvals are obtained from the competent regulatory
authotities; act as investment custodian, investment monitor and investment advisor in general for the
investment funds inside or outside the State of Kuwait in accordance with the regulating laws.

- Invest funds for its account and for the account of third patties in the various aspects of investment
inside or outside the State of Kuwait and acquire movable and immovable assets.

- Act as the issuance manager for the securities issued by the local and foreign government and private
companies, institutions and bodies and act as the subscription agent, listing advisor, investment
custodian and monitor, including publications management and commitments of subscription
operations management, receiving applications and covering subscription thereto.

- Perform all advisory services that help develop and strengthen the ability of financial and monetary
market in the State of Kuwait and meet its requirements within the limits of the law and the decisions
or instructions issued by the competent regulatory authorities (after obtaining the necessary approvals
from those authorities), provided this does not result in granting funding by the company in any way.

- Mediate in financing operations, structure and manage the financing arrangements of the local and
international companies, institutions, bodies and projects in the various economic sectors in
accordance with the rules and conditions specified by the competent regulatory authorities.

- Carry out all the works related to the activities for the arrangement and management of consolidation,
acquisition and separation operations for the local and foreign government and private companies,
institutions and bodies.

- Trade in transportation means and related heavy equipment.

- Finance the putchases of capital goods, durable and non-durable goods.

- Lease capital and durable goods.

- Grant short and medium term loans to natural and judicial persons.

- Perform real estate investment operations aiming at the management and development of residential
lands and building of residential and commercial units and complexes for the purpose of selling them
in cash or on installments or leasing same. _

- Manage all kinds of financial portfolios, invest and develop funds by employing them locally and
internationally for the account of the company or for the account of its clients, in addition to lending
and botrowing operations.

- Mediate in the operations of lending, botrowing, brokerage and warrantees against commission ot pay.

- Finance and mediate in international and local trade operations.

- Manage and create mutual investment funds according to the law and after approval by the competent

authorities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Incorporation and activities (continued)

- Mediate in investment in the international instruments and securities.

- TInvest in real estate, industrial and agricultural sectors and other economic sectors, whether directly or
through contribution to the incorporation of specialized companies or purchase of the shares of these
companies.

- Sell and purchase foreign currencies and trade in precious metals only for the account of the company.

- Conduct researches and studies for private and public real estate projects and for the employment of
funds for its account ot for the account of third parties.

- Trade in securities such as shares and investment certificates and the like.

The Parent Company may have an interest or participate in any aspect with the companies, institutions and
bodies performing similar works or which might assist it in the achievement of its objectives in Kuwait or
abroad. The Parent Company may also open branches inside and outside the State of Kuwait in such a way that

does not contradict with the company’s law and the instructions of the competent regulatory authorities.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is PO Box 26442, Safat 13125, State of Kuwait.

The Parent Company’s board of directors approved these consolidated financial statements for issue on
30 Matrch 2021. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these
consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2 Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the
TASB, as modified for use by the Government of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the
Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”). The modification requires adoption of all IFRSs for such institutions, except
for the IFRS 9 requirements for measurement of estimated credit losses (“ECL”) for credit facilities. The CBK
requires to measure the provision for credit losses at the higher of provision calculated under IFRS 9 in
accordance with the CBK guidelines, and the provision required by the prudential regulations of the CBK.

3 Changes in accounting policies

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
which have been adopted by the Group. Information on these new standards is presented below:

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IFRS 3 — Amendments — Definition of Business 1 Tanuary 2020
IAS 1 and IAS 8 — Amendments — Definition of Material 1 January 2020

IFRS 16 — Amendments — Covid 19 Rent Related Concessions 1 June 2020
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 3 — Amendments- Definition of Business

The Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations are changes to Appendix A Defined terms, the application

guidance, and the illustrative examples of IFRS 3 only with respect to Definition of Business. The amendments:

e  clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to
customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

e add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been
acquired;

o remove the assessment of whether market patticipants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

e add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of

activities and assets is not a business

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

IAS 1 and TAS 8 — Amendments

The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 clarify the definition of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the
Conceptual Framewortk and the standards. The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed
from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be expected to influence’.

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 16 — Amendments- COVID19 Rent Related Concessions

IFRS 16 contains specific requirements when accounting for changes to lease payments and rent concessions
are in the scope of these requirements. Lessees are required to assess whether rent concessions are lease
modifications, and if they are, there is specific accounting to be applied. However, applying these requirements
to potentially a significant number of leases could be difficult, particularly from a practical perspective due to
pressures resulting from the pandemic.

The practical expedient allows lessees to elect to not carry out an assessment to decide whether a COVID-19-
related rent concession received is a lease modification. The lessee is permitted to account for the rent
concession as if the change is not a lease modification.

The practical expedient is only applicable to rent concessions provided as a direct result of the COVID-19
pandemic. The relief is only for lessees that are granted these rent concessions. There are no changes for lessors.

All of the following conditions need to be met:
e The rent concession provides relief to payments that overall results in the consideration for the lease
contract being substantially the same or less than the original consideration for the lease immediately
before the concession was provided.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 16 — Amendments- COVID19 Rent Related Concessions (continued)

e The rent concession is for relief for payments that were originally due on or before 30 June 2021. So,
payments included are those required to be reduced on or before 30 June 2021, but subsequent rental
increases of amounts defetred can go beyond 30 June 2021.

e There are no other substantive changes to the other terms and conditions of the lease

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of this consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods besinning

IFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments No stated date
IAS 16 — Amendments — Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
IAS 1 — Amendments — Classification of current or non-curtrent 1 January 2023
IAS 37 — Amendments — Onerous contracts -Cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Ventute - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate
or joint venture, as follows:
e require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
e require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the untelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution
of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 IASB Standatds issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture — Amendments (continued)

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, eatly
implementation is allowed. Management does not anticipates that the application of these amendments may
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions
arise.

IAS 16 Amendments - Proceeds before intended use

The amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts
received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, an
entity will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendment in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendment to TAS 1 simplifies the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter
after its parent in relation to the measurement of cumulative translation differences. Subsidiary that is a first-
time adopter later than its parent might have been required to keep two patallel sets of accounting records for
cumulative translation differences based on different dates of transition to IFRSs. However, the amendment
extends the exemption to cumulative translation differences to reduce costs for first-time adopters.

Amendment to IFRS 9 relates to the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities — In
determining whether to derecognise a financial liability that has been modified or exchanged, an entity assesses
whether the terms are substantially different. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when
assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of
the original financial liability.

Lease Incentives — amendment to illustrative examples — The IASB was informed about the potential for
confusion in applying IFRS 16 Leases because of how Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 had
illustrated the requirements for lease incentives. Before the amendment, Nlustrative Example 13 had included
as part of the fact pattern a reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements; the example had not explained
cleatly enough the conclusion as to whether the reimbursement would meet the definition of a lease incentive
in IFRS 16. The IASB decided to remove the potential for confusion by deleting from Hlustrative Example 13
the reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements.

Taxation in fair value measurements — Before this amendment, when an entity used a discounted cash flow
technique to determine the fair value applying IAS 41, IAS 41.22 required the entity to exclude taxation cash
flows from the calculation. The amendment to IAS 41 removed from this requirement to exclude taxation cash
flows when measuring fair value. This amendment aligned the requirements in IAS 41 on fair value
measurement with those in other IFRS Standards.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of current ot non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period. Stating management expectations around whether they will
defer settlement or not does not impact the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending
conditions and how these can impact classification and has included requirements for liabilities that can be
settled using an entity’s own instruments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant

impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

TAS 37 Amendments — Onerous contracts- Cost of fulfilling a contract
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling
the contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

The amendments are only to be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all of its obligations
at the beginning of the annual period in which it first applies the amendments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendment in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4 Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

4.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KID”) which is the functional
currency of the Patent Company and are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income that are measured at fair value.

The Group has elected to present the “consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
. [ P . p : p
income” in two statements: the “consolidated statement of profit or loss” and “consolidated statement of profit
ot loss and other comprehensive mcome”.

4.2 Basis of consolidation

The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months
from that of the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of
any significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent
Company’s financial statements.



M 8

nancial Group for ©
cial Statements

18

ancing mud nvestment « KA

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-Group asset sales
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessaty to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comptehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective
ownership interests.

When a controlling intetest in the subsidiaries is disposed of, the difference between the selling price and the
net asset value plus cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

4.3 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at theit acquisition-date fair values.

When the Group acquires 2 business, it assesses the financial assets and labilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquitee, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated
above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
ot loss immediately.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.4 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually
identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

4.5 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a product or service to a customet.

The Group follows a 5-step process:

1 Identifying the contract with a customer

2 Identifying the performance obligations

3 Determining the transaction price

4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfted.

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance
obligations and reports these amounts, if any, as other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Similatly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable, if any, in its statement of financial position, depending
on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.

4.5.1 Asset management services

Asset management fees is variable consideration based on the net assets value of portfolios at pre-agreed rates
in accordance with the respective contracts with customers for the supervision and managing portfolios” assets,
safe custody of the assets and conducting buy/sell transactions for the customets.

4.5.2  Fees from advisory services

Fees arising for rendering specific advisory services, brokerage setvices, equity and debt placement transactions
for a third party or arising from negotiating ot participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party
are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

4.6 Interest on instalment credit loans

Interest on instalment credit facilities is calculated at the time of a contract with the customer. The customer
repays the total amount due (including interest) by equal instalments over the petiod of the contract. The
interest is allocated over the life of the agreement using the “effective interest” method. Interest relating to
outstanding instalments is considered as deferred income and is included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a deduction from instalment credit debtots.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.7 Realised profit from instalment sales

Profit margin from instalment sales is calculated at the time of a contract with the customer. The customer
repays the total amount due (including profit margin) by equal instalments over the period of the contract. The
profit margin is allocated over the life of the agreement using the “fixed instalment” method. Profit margin
relating to outstanding instalments is considered as deferred income and is included in the statement of financial
position as a deduction from instalment receivables.

4.8 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

4.9 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

4.10  Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or
at the date of their origin,

4.11 Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the outstanding balance of
borrowing payable and applicable interest rate.

Finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial petiod of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Capitalisation of finance costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are complete. Othet finance costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

4,12 Taxation

4.12.1 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company. As per
law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to
NLST have to be deducted from the profit for the year.

4.12.2 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of
Directors’ resolution, which states that income from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’
remuneration, transfer to statutoty reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the
contribution.

4.12.3 Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the
Parent Company in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10
December 2007.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
4,12  Taxation (continued)

4.12.3 Zakar (continued)
Under the NLST and Zakat regulations, no carry forward of losses to the future years or any carry back to prior
years is permitted.

4.12.4 Income tax
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comptise those obligations to, ot claims from, tax authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the repotting date.

Deferred income tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is generally
provided on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred
tax is, however, neither provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset
or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits are assessed for
recognition as deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to
their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets are recognised.

4.13  Segment reporting

The Group has four operating segments: instalment credit, investments, financial brokerage and real estate. In
identifying these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its
main products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different
approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated
financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.

4,14 Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control ot joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting, ie. on the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
net assets of the associate, less any impairment and the consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the
Group’s shate of the results of operations of associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill.

The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part
of that investment. Any excess of the Parent Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

414  Investment in associates (continued)

Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the
carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the Group’s share in the associate atising from changes
in the associate’s equity. Changes in the Group’s share in associate’s equity are trecognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions with associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s share in the associate.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment in the asset
transferred.

An assessment for impairment of investment in associates is performed when there is an indication that the
asset has been impaired, ot that impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist.

The associate’s financial statements are prepared either to the Parent Company’s reporting date or to a date not
earlier than three months of the Parent Company’s teporting date using consistent accounting policies. Where
practicable, adjustments are made for the effect of significant transactions or other events that occurred
between the reporting date of the associates and the Parent Company’s reporting date.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.15 Financial instruments

4.15.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and ate measured initially at fair value adjusted by directly attributable
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at
fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of Group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

° rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired,

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass through’ arrangement and either

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b)  the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the
asset but has transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
415 Financial insttuments (continued)

4.15.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transfersed
control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.15.2 Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets ate classified into the following categories upon
initial recognition:

¢ financial assets at amortised cost
« financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
« financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

The classification is determined by both:

* the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset

e the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:

« the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other

comprehensive income if certain criteria are met and

s the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

4.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

. Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVIPL):

* they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows

« the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
415  Financial instruments (continued)

4.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

- Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, balances with banks and other financial institutions and
short term deposits due within three months which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Any
cash and cash equivalents which are restricted are shown separately.

- Instalment credit debtors

Instalment credit debtors are stated in the consolidated financial position at amortised cost, net of specific and
general provisions. Specific provisions are made to reduce impaired receivables to their estimated recoverable
amount and general provisions are made at a rate of 1% on instalment credit debtors for which no specific
provisions were made, to provide for losses known from experience to exist, but not yet specifically identifiable,
in accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait instructions in that respect. The recoverable amounts are based
on estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate on a portfolio basis for Groups
of similar debtots.

- _Acconnts receivable and other assets

Accounts receivable and other assets are stated at otiginal amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts.
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts
are written off as incurred

- Due from related parties
Due from related parties are financial assets originated by the Group by providing money directly to the
borrower that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.

° Financial assets at FVTOCI
The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI comprise equity investments and debt instruments. The equity
investments represent investments in shares of various companies and include both quoted and unquoted.

The Group accounts for financial assets at FVTOCI if the assets meet the following conditions:

* they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows and sell;
and

« the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that ate solely payments of principal and
Interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss upon derecognition of the asset (except for equity investments at FVTOCI as
detailed below).

Equity investments at FV'TOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
4,15  Financial instrtuments (continued)

4.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

o Financial assets at FVTOCI (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

* it has been acquitred principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

s it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is
transferred to retained earnings within the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

° Financial assets at FVIPL
Financial assets that do not meet the ctiteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVOCI are categorised at
fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. The category also
contains investments in equity shares.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprise investment in equity shares.

4.15.4 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL and Equity investments at FVTOCI are subject to review for
impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each
category of financial assets, which are described below.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI.

For financial assets (except instalment credit debtors), the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit tisk since initial recognition of the respective financial asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
4,15  Financial instrtuments (continued)

4.15.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Instalment credit debtors are subject to the minimum provisioning requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait.
Management believes that the impairment allowance for the instalment credit debtors under the CBI
requirements exceed the requirements of IFRS 9.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross cartying amount
at the reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and other assets. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the cutrent as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial insttument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL reptesents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial
assets with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at EVIOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the
carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

4.15.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include due to banks, accounts payable and other liabilities, due to related

parties, term loans and murabaha payable.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
415  Financial instrtuments (continued)

4.15.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

° Financial liabilities at amortised cost
These are stated using effective interest rate method. Due to banks, accounts payable and other liabilities, due
to related parties, murabaha payable are classified as financial liabilities other than at FVTPL.

Term loans and due 1o banks

All term loans and due to banks are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Gains and losses ate recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

Acconnts payable and other liabilities
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed or
not.

Due to related parties
Due to related parties are financial liabilities arising in the normal courses of the business and are not quoted
in an active market.

Murabaha payables

Murabaha payables represents amounts payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased under
murabaha arrangements. Murabaha payables is stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred finance
cost. Deferred finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the borrowing rate
attributable and the balance outstanding,

4.16 Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium ot discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate.

417  Trade and settlement date accounting

All “regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date L.e. the date that the
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are putchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation ot convention in
the market place.

418  Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, of to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4,19  Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.19  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

420 Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are Grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as
equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually.

All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and
determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for
impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessaty
to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined
individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such
as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the cartying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longet exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its catrying amount.

4.21  Properties held for trading

Properties held for trading are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are those expenses
incurred in bringing each property to its present condition including identifiable finance cost. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion and
disposal.

4.22  Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for
using the cost model. Investment propetties are initially measured at cost, being the purchase price and any
directly attributable expenditure for a purchased investment propetty and cost at the date when construction
or development is complete for a self-constructed investment property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. Gains and losses arising from the sale of investment properties are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4q Significant accounting policies (continued)

422  Investment properties (continued)

The estimated useful life for the calculation of depreciation, excluding land, is 25 years using straight line
method. The carrying amounts are reviewed at each reporting date on an individual basis to assess whether they
are recorded in excess of their recoverable amount. Provision for impairment losses, if any, are made where
carrying values exceed the recoverable amount.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied propetty becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under propetty and equipment up to the date of change
in use.

4,23  Property and equipment
Land is stated at cost less any impairment losses based upon the reports of independent professional valuers.

Capital expenditure on assets in the course of construction are classified as assets under construction. Such
costs ate subsequently charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss if the project is abandoned, or, if
the project is, completed, are capitalised and transferred to the appropriate property and equipment category,
from which time depreciation is charged using the rate applicable to the category concerned. Interest incurred
on funds specifically obtained to finance construction activities are capitalised using the actual interest rate
incurred during construction.

Other property and equipment assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Group depreciates
these assets using the straight-line method at rates estimated to fully depreciate the cost of the property and
equipment over their expected useful lives.

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed petiodically to ensure that the method and period of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits arising from items of property. In
the case of leasehold property, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets
or over the term of the lease, if shorter.

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.

When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and
any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.24  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there is a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their
present values, where the time value of money is material.
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.24  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued)
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

4.25  Equity, teserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Legal and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies’ Law and the Parent Company’s memotandum of incotporation and articles
of association, as amended.

Other components of equity include the following:
- Foreign cutrency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD.
- Fair value reserve — comptises valuation gains and losses relating to financial assets at fair value through
othet comprehensive income.

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

All transactions with owners are recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been
approved in a general meeting,

4.26  Leased assets
Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019

The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset
(the undetlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:
+  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly

specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group

*  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

+ the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout

the period of use.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
4.26  Leased assets (continued)
Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continned)

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical
expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
Atlease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet
measured as follows:

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives
received).

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from
the lease commencement date to the eatlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group as a lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties. The
Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. When the terms of a lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head-lease and sub-lease as two separate contacts.
The sub-lease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use of asset arising
from the head-lease.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4q Significant accounting policies (continued)
4.26  Leased assets (continued)
Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over lease term. Initial direct cost
incurred in arranging and negotiating a lease are added to the catrying amount of the lease assets and recognized
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as receivables. Finance lease income is allocated to the
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant petiodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding
for the finance lease.

Accounting policy applicable before 1 January 2019

The Group as a lessee
Where the Group is a lessee, payments on operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

4.27  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group
and not yet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for under cost method. Under this method,
the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. Treasury shares are
not entitled to cash dividends that the Group may distribute. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the
number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total
cost of treasury shares.

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are recorded directly in “treasury shares reserve” in the
shareholders’ equity. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on
that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve and legal reserve.
Subsequent to this, should profits arise from sale of treasury shares an amount is transferred to reserves and
retained earnings equal to the loss previously charged to this account.

4.28  Related parties transactions

Related parties are associates, major shareholders, board of directors, executive staff, their family members and
the companies owned by them. All related party transactions are carried out with the approval of the Group’s
management.

4.29  End of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of 2 minimum setvice petiod in accordance
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
petiod of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a
result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its IQuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public Institution for Social
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these
contributions, which ate expensed when due.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
4.30  Foreign currency translation

4.30.1 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in currency Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the
functional currency of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional cutrency.

4.30.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

4.30.3 Foreign operations

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional
currency other than the KD are translated mto KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities
in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are chatrged/credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

431  Share-based payments
Certain senior management employees are granted share options of Parent Company as part of their
remunerations package.

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using
the grant date fair value of the shares.

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in Share Based Payment Reserve in equity, over
the period in which vesting conditions ate fulfilled (note 28). The cumulative expenses recognised for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
consolidated statement of profit or loss or credit for a petiod represents the movement in cumulative expenses
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in employee benefits expenses.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expenses recognised is the expenses had
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the awards are met. An additional expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transactions, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employees as measured at the date of modification.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

431  Share-based payments (continued)
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computations of diluted
earnings per share.

4.32  Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust ot in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

5.1 Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

5.1.1 Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after petforming the business model test (please see accounting policy for
financial instruments sections in note 4.14). This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the petformance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that
affect the performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the
business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets.

512  Significant increase in credit risk

Estimated credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk
of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward looking information.

513 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
The determination of the whether or not petformance obligation criterial set out in IFRS 15 relating to transfer
of control of goods to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.

5.1.4  Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as a result of business
combination requires significant judgement.

5.1.5  Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities
and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
5.2 Estimates uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
different.

521 Impairment of assets with definite lives

At the financial position date, the Group’s management assesses, whether there is any indication that assets
with definite lives may be impaired. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the “value in
use” method. This method uses estimated cash flow projections over the estimated useful life of the asset.

5.2.2 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on
existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.2.3 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable
forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic
drivers and how these drivers will affect each othet.

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount
is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is petformed on an individual basis.
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision
applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

5.2.4  Classification of real estate property
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate property whether it should be classified as trading, property
held for development or investment propetty.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the mtention of
development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

5.2.5 Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change
the utility of certain software and equipment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
52 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

5.2.6 Business combinations

Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business
combination. Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many
variables that affect future profitability.

5.2.7  Fairvalue of financial instruments

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active
market quotes ate not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on
market inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such
data is not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may
vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

5.2.8 Significant influence

Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
other vote holders, give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the Group.

6 Subsidiaries

6.1 Composition of the Group
Set out below are details of subsidiaries held directly by the Group:

Voting capital held Place of Principal
Company name as at 31 December incorporation activities Reporting date
2020 2019
Direct subsidiaries:
Al-Addan Real Estate Co. 100% 100% Kuwait Trading in all real 31 December 2020
- SPC estate activities
Arzan CC for Collection 100% 100% Kuwait Trading in real 31 December 2020
Co.—-SPC estate activities and
collecting money on
behalf of others
Kuwait Invest Real Estate 51% 51% Kuwait Real estate services 31 December 2020
Co—WLL
International Finance Co. 100% 100% Lebanon Finance services 30 September 2020
—~ SAL (6.1.1) including financing,
management and
brokerage
Arzan Securities 84.55% 84.55%  Egypt Brokerage services 30 September 2020
Brokerage Co. SAE
[Formerly: IFA Securities
Brokerage Co.- SAE]
International Financial 65.20% 65.20%  Jordan Brokerage services 30 September 2020
Advisers Company —
WLL
Saudi Invest Real Estate 100% 100% Saudi Arabia Real estate services 31 December 2020

Co. - WLL



Srran Sinancial Group for Fhumeing and lnvestmant « KPBO and s Subsidiaries &8
Sonsoiidated Finonohd Statoments
31 Becember 2020

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.1 Composition of the Group (continued)

Voting capital held Place of Principal
Company name as at 31 December incorporation activities Reporting date
2020 2019
Arzan VC | Ltd. 100% 100% United Arab Projects 31 December 2020
Emirates management
HI Equity Company Ltd. 99.29% 99.29%  Cayman Real estate 30 September 2020
Islands
HI Debt Company Ltd. 99.29% 99.29%  Cayman Real estate 30 September 2020
Islands
Arzan Capital (Holding) 78.02% 78.6% United Arab Holding Company 30 September 2020
Limited (6.1.2) Emirates
Arzan AM Limited 100% 100% United Arab General Trading 31 December 2020
Emirates
Arzan Real Estate Co. — 80% 80% Egypt Real estate 30 September 2020
SAE
Blender Company for 100% 100% Kuwait Real estate 31 December 2020
Rent and Lease Lands
and Properties — SPC
Seven Seas Resorts Co. 100% 100% Kuwait Hospitality 31 December 2020
—-KSsCC
Easy Buy Company — 100% 100% Kuwait Credit facilities 31 December 2020
SPC services
Joint venture (6.1.3) 51% - Kuwait Investment 31 December 2020
Indirect subsidiaries:
Through Arzan Capital
(Holding) Limited:
Arzan Wealth (DIFC) Co. 100% 100% United Arab Financial advisory 30 September 2020
Limited Emirates services
Arzan VC for Projects 99% 99% Kuwait Projects 31 December 2020
Management —WLL management

6.1.1 The Group’s subsidiary International Finance Company SAL (“IFC”) is located in Lebanon which is
currently witnessing significant economic and political turmoil. These events include significant controls on the
Lebanese banking system including placing limits on cash withdrawals of foreign currency bank balances, limits
on international bank transfers and reduction of contracted interest rates on foreign currency term deposits.
These measures have significantly curtailed the ability of the Group to access the cash and other assets of IFC.
Moreover, the Government of Lebanon defaulted on its sovereign debt obligation. The rating agencies have
downgraded the sovereign rating of Lebanon as well as some of a Lebanese banks including the bank where
the subsidiary’s cash is primarily deposited. Furthermore, the economy of Lebanon is now considered a
hyperinflationary economy.

Further, due to the current economic conditions the subsidiary has ceased its new lending operations and is
monitoring the business activities closely.
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6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.1 Composition of the Group (continued)

Management has assessed the potential effects of these events on its ability to continue to exercise control over
IFC Lebanon and concluded that it still has the power and ability to use that power to affect returns and that
it is still exposed to variable returns of the subsidiary. Accordingly, it continues to consolidate the subsidiary.

Management has also assessed the impact of these events on the catrying value of its investment in IFC. As a
result, the Group recognised a provision of credit losses for restricted cash and cash equivalents and provision
for instalment credit debtors amounting to KID2,408,180 and KID556,712, respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: KID1,000,000 and
KID2,250,000, respectively) (notes 12.2 and 13).

Furthermore, the Group’s management believes that the carrying value of the Group’s investment in Lebanon
is recoverable and there are currently no indications that any further material additional impaitment loss is
required to be recognised.

Summarised financial information of IFC Lebanon as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020, before
inter Group elimination, is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 1,297,562 87,165
Short term deposits - 2,490,102
Instalment credit debtors - 3,137,980
Other assets 197,870 228,161
Total assets 1,495,432 5,943,408
Bank facilities - 1,924,670
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1,253,298 1,216,719
Total liabilities 1,253,298 3,141,389
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec 31 Dec
2020 2019
KD KD
Income from instalment credit 461,668 1,022,636
Loss for the year (2,638,778) (3,094,825)

6.1.2 In previous years, the Parent Company’s board of directors approved to transfer part of its ownership in
Arzan Capital (Holding) Ltd, equivalent to 6 million shares with nominal value of USD1 per share, to the
employees of the subsidiary to be distributed in accordance with the Employee Stock Option Plan of Arzan
Capital (Holding) Ltd. Accordingly, during the year, 432,067 shares equivalent to 0.575% (31 December 2019:
531,091 shares equivalent to 0.892%) of the Group’s ownership interest in Arzan Capital (Holding) Limited
were transferred. This transaction resulted in a loss of KI2129,308 (31 December 2019: KID158,944) which has
been recognised in the shareholders’ equity.

6.1.3 During the year, the Group established a joint venture in Kuwait with a share capital of KID7,057,849 in
which it owns 51%. The principal activity of the investee is investment. The Group classified this investment
as a subsidiary since management believes that the Group has the power to control the investee.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests:

The Group includes the following subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Proportion of
ownership interests
and voting rights

Name held by the NCI Results allocated to NCI

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019
% %
Kuwait Invest Real Estate Co. — WLL 49 49
Arzan Capital (Holding) Ltd 21.98 21.40 121,027
Joint Venture 49 - 356,194

31 Dec.
2019
KD

25,872
441,836

- 15,917,470

Accumulated NCI

31 Dec.
2019
KD

4,183,650
4,934,190

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, before inter Group

elimination is set out below:

a) Kuwait Invest Real Estate Co. — WLL
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Non-current assets 8,417,472 8,622,925
Current assets 8,767 8,021
Total assets 8,426,239 8,630,946
Current liabilities 99,355 92,884
Total liabilities 99,355 92,884
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 4,246,711 4,354,411
Non-controlling interests 4,080,173 4,183,650
Total equity 8,326,884 8,538,061
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
(Loss)/income (179,604) 66,677
Expenses and other charges (16,279) (13,877)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent (99,900) 26,928
Company
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to NCI (95,983) 25,872
(Loss)/profit for the year (195,883) 52,800
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the shareholders of the
Parent Company (107,701) (34,921)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to NCI (103,477) (33,551)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (211,178) (68,472)
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6 Subsidiaries (continued)
6.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests: (continued)
a) Kuwait Invest Real Estate Co. — WLL (continued)
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Net cash flow used in operating activities (2,234) (5,013)
Net cash outflows (2,234) (5,013)
b) Arzan Capital (Holding) Ltd
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Non-current assets 21,704,846 26,057,886
Current assets 8,611,246 6,281,801
Total assets 30,316,092 32,339,687
Non-current liabilities 114,333 143,533
Current liabilities 7,080,005 9,141,752
Total liabilities 7,194,338 9,285,285
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 18,040,124 18,120,212
Non-controlling interests 5,081,630 4,934,190
Total equity 23,121,754 23,054,402
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Income 2,485,156 3,483,197
Expenses and other charges (1,934,476) (1,418,772)
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 429,653 1,622,589
Profit for the year attributable to NCI 121,027 441 836
Profit for the year 550,680 2,064,425
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the shareholders of
the Parent Company 1,037,612 1,542,731
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 292,280 420,090
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,329,892 1,962,821
Net cash flow from operating activities 272,635 1,294,307
Net cash inflows 873,957 1,832,191




Ay waneial @
Consolhlated Finansial Statomeants
It December G20

voun for Financing asd nvestment ~ KERQ and s Kubsldaries

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Subsidiaries (continued)
6.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests: (continmed)
c) Joint Venture
31 Dec.
2020
KD
Non-current assets 32,315,418
Total assets 32,315,418
Current liabilities -
Total liabilities =
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 16,397,948
Non-controlling interests 15,917,470
Total equity 32,315,418
Year ended
31 Dec.
2020
KD
Income 723,140
Expenses and other charges -
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 366,946
Profit for the year attributable to NCI 356,194
Profit for the year 723,140
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 366,946
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 356,194
Total comprehensive income for the year 723,140
7 Income from instalment credit debtors
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Interest income from instalment credit 463,580 901,446
Discount, commission and fees 69,061 249,898
Recovery of written off balances 129,407 443,925
662,048 1,595,269
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group earns revenue from its asset management and advisory services, which are transferred over time.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Assets management 73,424 88,325
Custodian and other fees 196,760 229,478
Advisory services 1,511,243 2,645,531
1,781,427 2,963,334

Revenue from advisoty services represents 85% of the revenue from contracts with customers for the year

ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 89%).

9 Finance costs
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
On financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Due to banks 48,548 238,885
Term loans 904,087 1,116,403
Murabaha payables 509,404 528,897
Others 205,216 226,913
1,667,255 2,111,098

10 Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss) /profit for the year attributable to
the shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year

excluding treasury shares.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company - KD (9,511,226) 1,095,948
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year to be used to

account for basic earnings per share (excluding treasury shares) — shares 792,302,850 796,798,668
Shares to be issued for no consideration under share-based payments — note 28 1,921,854 -
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year to be used to

account for diluted earnings per share (excluding treasury shares) 794,224,704 796,798,668
Basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of the

Parent Company - Fils (12.005) 1.375
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of the

Parent Company — Fils (11.975) 1.375

For the year ended 31 December 2019, as there are no dilutive instruments outstanding basic and diluted

earnings per share are identical.
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11 Net gain / (loss) on financial assets

Net gain / (loss) on financial assets, analysed by category, is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
At amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 234,954 344 816
Instalments credit debtors 190,713 (896,725)
Gain/(loss) on financial assets at amortised cost 425,667 (551,909)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
(Loss)/gain on change in fair value (926,161) 3,256,259
(Loss)/gain on sale (1,258,078) 845,937
Dividend income 380,979 404,533
(Loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,803,260) 4,506,729
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
interest income 245,638 610,768
Dividend income 2,040,579 1,855,357
Gain recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 2,286,217 2,466,125
Gain/(loss) on change in fair value 20,595,653 (5,567,842)
Gain/(loss) on sale 14,105 (3,689,399)
Gain/(loss) recognised in equity 20,609,758 (9,257,241)
Gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income 22,895,975 (6,791,116)
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets 21,518,382 (2,836,296)
12 Cash and cash equivalents
12.1 Cash and cash equivalents
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 9,520,342 7,839,904
Cash in managed portfolios 1,120,934 59,020
Term deposits — 1 to 3 months 697,511 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11,338,787 7,898,924
Less: due to banks - (1,930,923)
Cash and cash equivalents for statement of cash flows 11,338,787 5,968,001
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12 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Cash in managed portfolios amount of KID967,570 (31 December 2019: KID59,020) pledged against term loans
and murabaha payables (notes 23 and 24).

12.2 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 2,207,380 87,165
Term deposits — 1 to 3 months 2,498,362 3,490,102
4,705,742 3,577,267
Provision of credit losses (3,408,180) (1,000,000)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,297,562 2,577,267

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include balances deposited in a bank located in Lebanon and denominated
in Lebanese Pound. Due to the current political and economic events, the central bank of Lebanon imposed a
series of measures including restrictions on withdrawals and limitation of transfers of money abroad.
Consequently, the Group lacks access to these bank balances on time and in full. Therefore, during the year,
the Group recognised an additional provision for credit losses of KID2,408,180 against these restricted cash
and cash equivalents of its subsidiary “IFC Lebanon” (note 6.1.1).

The term deposits carry effective interest rate ranging 2.5% - 5% (31 December 2019: 9.25% - 12%) pet annum.

13 Instalment credit debtors

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Gross instalment credit debtors 7,898,948 11,408,073
Deferred income (872,305) (1,348,235)
7,026,643 10,059,838
Specific provision for credit losses (5,673,837) (2,266,647)
General provision for credit losses (829,957) (3,664,538)
622,849 4,128,653
Gross instalment credit debtors are repayable as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Within one year 1,735,303 3,036,274
More than a year 6,163,645 8,371,799
7,898,948 11,408,073
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13 Instalment credit debtors (continued)

The effective annual interest rate earned on instalment credit ranged from 5% to 10% per annum (31 December
2019: 5.75% to 7.5% per annum).

The gross instalment credit debtors include an amount of KD557,870 (31 December 2019: KD664,860) in
respect of related patties (note 32). This amount is secured by way of pledge of certain local shares.

The movements in the provisions for credit losses are as follows:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Specific General Specific General
provision provision Total provision provision Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
Opening balance 2,266,647 3,664,538 5,931,185 2,106,596 1,351,979 3,458,575
Write off during the year (82) - (82) (3,904) (9,314) (13,218)
Charge for the year 3,813,028 34,497 3,847,525 170,056 2,321,938 2,491,994
Reversal during the year (506,582) (2,869,608) (3,376,190) (583) - (583)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments 826 530 1,356 (5,518) (65) (5,583)
Closing balance 5,673,837 829,957 6,403,794 2,266,647 3,664,538 5,931,185

Provision for credit losses is calculated, in all material respect, with the requirements of the Central Bank of
Kuwait. However, during the yeat, the Group recognised a net provision of KD556,712 (31 December 2019:
KD2,250,000) for instalment credit debtors of its subsidiary “IFC Lebanon” (note 6.1.1).

14 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Local quoted shares 675,502 816,860
Foreign quoted shares 336,504 348,388
Foreign unquoted shares 1,772,332 2,115,357
Investments in managed portiolios 8,225,115 10,635,479
Investment in managed fund 493,785 588,775
11,503,238 14,504,859

The investments in managed portfolios with aggregate carryings value of KD7,769,235 (31 December 2019:
KID9,989,227) are pledged against term loans and murabaha payables (notes 23 and 24).

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is presented in Note 35.2.
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15 Accounts receivable and other assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD

Financial assets
Trade receivables 2,686,496 2,442 229
Instalments sales receivables 1,173,216 952,210
Due from related parties 1,719,429 1,359,961
Staff loans receivables - 1,970

5,579,141 4,756,370
Provision for doubtful debts (2,959,544) (2,320,095)

2,619,597 2,436,275
Non-financial assets
Prepayments 63,561 168,591
Advance payments to purchase investments - 79,615
Other assets 1,366,695 2,284,480

4,049,853 4,968,961

The carrying values of the financial assets included above approximate their fair values and all are due within
one year.

The movement in the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,320,095 2,209,758
Charge for the year 638,002 211,328
Written off during the year - (101,024)
Foreign currency adjustments 1,447 33
Balance at end of the year 2,959,544 2,320,095

16 Properties held for trading

Properties held for trading represent the Group’s share of investments in properties outside Kuwait.

The movement in the properties held for trading is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 1,409,531 1,409,531
Provision for properties held for trading (702,491) (503,391)
Balance at 31 December 707,040 906,140

As a result of impairment testing of the carrying value of the properties, an amount of KD199,100 (31
December 2019: KD117,140) has been recognised as a provision in the current year. The impairment testing
by management was based on fair value of the properties which has been determined based on valuation
obtained from independent and qualified valuer as of the date of the consolidated financial statements.
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17 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Local quoted shares 37,093,806 4 134,661
Local unguoted shares 4,987,599 12,679,879
Foreign unquoted shares 38,792,528 39,869,688
Investments in managed portfolios 4,280,638 7,076,658
Debt instruments 2,617,816 2,641,946
Investment funds 94,436 98,651
87,866,823 66,501,483

These investments ate held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the Group has elected
to designate these financial assets as at FV’ TOCI as it believes that recognising short-term fluctuations in the
fair value of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of profit or loss would not be consistent with
the Group’s strategy of holding these financial assets for long-term purposes and realising their performance
potential in the long run. The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI disaggregated by its business sectors ate as

follows:

Financial Real Consumer
services estate services Others Total
KD KD KD KD KD

31 December 2020:
Local quoted shares 31,696,714 5,249,051 126,497 21,544 37,093,806
Local unquoted shares 3,769,465 33,312 1,181,600 3,222 4,987,599
Foreign unquoted shares 13,187,147 25,048,780 - 556,601 38,792,528
Investments in managed portfolios 2,419,049 - 1,861,589 - 4,280,638
Debt instruments 1,727,696 813,857 76,263 - 2,617,816
fnvestment funds 94,436 - - - 94,436

52,894,507 31,145,000 3,245,949 581,367 87,866,823
31 December 2019:
Local quoted shares - 3,779,619 334,080 20,962 4,134,661
Local unquoted shares 11,432,368 33,392 1,186,562 27,557 12,679,879
Foreign unquoted shares 8,799,384 30,256,184 - 814,120 39,869,688
investments in managed portfolios 2,160,153 - 4,916,505 - 7,076,658
Debt instruments 1,663,503 978,443 - - 2,641,946
Investment funds 98,651 - - - 98,651

24 154,059 35,047,638 6,437,147 862,639 66,501,483

Debt instruments amounting to KID813,857 (31 Decembet 2019: KID978,443) are secuted by charges over real
estate properties and catry average interest rate of 7% (31 December 2019: 7%) per annum.

Quoted local shares and investments in managed portfolios with an aggregate carrying value of KID7,838,163
(31 December 2019: KID10,191,948) are pledged against term loans and murabaha payables (notes 23 and 24).

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments is presented in note 35.2.
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18 Investment in associates
18.1 The details of the Group’s investment in associates ate given below:
Percentage of
Country of ownership
incorporation 31 December Activity
2020 2019
% %
Offset Holding Co. - KSCC Kuwait 50.00 50.00 Holding Company
Al Wafir Marketing Services Co. - KSCC Kuwait 34.00 34.00 Real estate
Al Oula Sfaughterhouse Co. - KSCC Kuwait 28.89 28.89 Services
Gulf Real Estate Co. - WLL Kuwait 20.13 20.13 Real estate
Establishment &
Arzan International Company for Hospital Management of
Construction and Management — WLL Kuwait 10.00 10.00 Hospitals
Kuwait Clearing Company — KSC (18.1.1) Kuwait - 13.33 Services

18.1.1 During the year, the Group sold its entire ownership interest in its associate “Kuwait Clearing Company
— KKSCC” to a related party for a total consideration of KKID12,015,000. As the legal formalities for transfer of
ownership were being completed, this investment was initially reclassified to non-current asset held for sale and
was stated at lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell which resulted in an impairment loss of
KID4,567,654 which was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The sale transaction was
completed during the year. However, for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised a share of
results and received a dividend from that associate an amount of KID499,350 and KID427,200, respectively (31
December 2019: KID470,209 and KD Nil).

18.2 Summarised financial information of Group’s material associates are set out below:

Al Wafir Marketing
Offset Holding Co. KSCC Services Co. KSCC

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD
Assets
Current 5,347,736 4,971,334 42,091,597 31,349,934
Non-current 16,270,845 16,683,820 39,906,261 43,102,678
21,618,581 21,655,154 81,997,858 74,452,612
Liabilities
Current 324,645 212,036 23,165,159 22,459,531
Non-current 869,740 721,306 24,962,076 20,394,958
1,194,385 933,342 48,127,235 42 854,489
20,424,196 20,721,812 33,870,623 31,598,123
Non-controlling interests (3,611,690) (3,519,510) (947,334) (1,263,867)
Net assets 16,812,506 17,202,302 32,923,289 30,334,256
Group’s share of net assets 8,406,253 8,601,151 11,193,457 10,313,222
Goodwill - - 7,638,605 7,772,154
Carrying amount 8,406,253 8,601,151 18,832,062 18,085,376
Revenue 2,058,531 2,032,975 19,110,203 20,840,727
(Loss)/profit (359,206) 133,354 3,597,642 3,856,668
Group’ share of results (179,603) 66,677 1,223,148 1,311,213
Total comprehensive (loss)/income (389,796) (109,190) 3,697,642 3,856,668

Dividend received - - 476,463 635,283
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18 Investment in associates (continued)
The remaining associates are considered immaterial to the Group.

18.3 Set out below is the aggregate information for the individually immaterial associates.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Aggregate share in associates’ assets and liabilities:
Assets 7,700,087 7,404,823
Liabilities 2,258,629 2,274,336
Net assets 5,441,458 5,130,487
Group’s share of net assets 1,523,331 1,428,438
Carrying amount 1,523,331 1,428,438
Aggregate share in associates’ results:
Revenue 1,082,717 815,225
Profit for the year 760,936 385,967
Group’s share of results 224,901 125,176
Total comprehensive income 760,936 385,967
Dividends received 130,014 108,346
18.4 The movefnent in the investment it associates is as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
At 1 January 44,631,874 27,476,807
Additions - 16,046,700
Disposals (12,015,000) -
Share of results 1,767,796 1,973,274
Dividends (1,033,677) (743,629)
Share of other comprehensive loss (21,693) (121,278)
tmpairment loss (4,567,654) -
At 31 December 28,761,646 44,631,874

Investments in associate with a carrying value of KID12,888,288 (31 December 2019: KID37,863,555) are
pledged against term loans and murabaha payables (notes 23 and 24).

19 Investments in real estate under development

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Cost
Land cost 5,313,674 5,050,140
Development costs 157,188 133,828
Foreign currency differences 53,965 129,706
Total cost 5,524,827 5,313,674
Provision for impairment in value (134,160) -

Net book value at end of the year 5,390,667 5,313,674
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

19 Investments in real estate under development (continued)

Investments in real estate under development represent 33.54% share in the ownership of the right of use of
land located in Al Dubaiya leased from the Ministry of Finance in Kuwait. The right of use of land is jointly
owned by the Parent Company and other investors through a real estate portfolio agreement. Under the
agreement, the real estate is being developed by one of the other investors, which is a company specialized in
the field of real estate investments.

As a result of impairment testing of the carrying value of the property, the Group recognised an impairment
loss of KDD134,160 (31 December 2019: KD Nil). The impairment testing by management was based on fair
value of the propetty which has been determined based on valuations obtained from independent and qualified
valuers as of the date of the consolidated financial statements.

20 Investment properties

Land Building Total
KD KD KD

Cost
1 January 2020 1,023,750 1,484,989 2,508,739
31 December 2020 1,023,750 1,484,989 2,508,739
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2020 - 912,275 912,275
Charge for the year - 58,740 58,740
31 December 2020 - 971,015 971,015
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 1,023,750 513,974 1,537,724
Fair value as at 31 December 2020 1,915,430 972,070 2,887,500
Cost
1 January 2019 1,023,750 1,484,989 2,508,739
31 December 2019 1,023,750 1,484,989 2,508,739
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2019 - 853,534 853,534
Charge for the year - 58,741 58,741
31 December 2019 - 912,275 912,275
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 1,023,750 572,714 1,596,464
Fair value as at 31 December 2019 1,732,680 979,820 2,712,500

Land is not depreciated. Building is depreciated over 25 years. The fair value of the investment propetties is
determined based on independent valuations.

The investment properties represent the part of building constructed on land rented to related parties and third
parties, and is accounted for as an investment property under TAS 40.

The investment propetties are mortgaged against murabaha payables (note 24).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

22 Accounts payable and other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Trade payables 208,694 143,113
Due to related parties 93,542 3,647,720
Other payables 2,800,568 2,342 120
Lease liability 40,543 -
Accrued interest 20,597 104,483
Provision for staff leave 270,283 225735
KFAS payable 226,802 226,802
NLST and Zakat payable 2,816,601 2,924,742
Advances received from investors (see 22.1 below) 481,294 3,795,856
Due to shareholders 361,314 361,314
7,320,238 13,671,885

22.1 Advances received from investors represent amounts received by one of the Group’s subsidiaries from
investors to purchase investments on their behalf. As of the reporting date, the Group is in the process to
transfer these investments to the investors.

23 Term loans
Term loans are due for repayment as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Within one year 6,868,250 9,254,500
After one year 4,500,000 8,720,000
11,368,250 17,974,500

As of 31 December 2020, the outstanding term loans are as follows:

- KID5,000,000 obtained from a local bank carry interest rate 4.25% (31 December 2019: 5.5% to 6.15%) per
annum and was repayable in various instalments ending in June 2022. However, during the year, term loan
has been rescheduled to be repayable by January 2026 in 20 quarterly instalments of KI2125,000 and the last
instalment of KID2.5 million. This term loan is secured against mortgage of cash in managed portfolio,
certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income and investment in associate (notes 12.1, 14, 17 and 18).

- USD21 million (equivalent to [KID6,430,200) obtained by one of the foreign subsidiaries from a local
company in Kuwait. The loan is unsecured, carry interest rate of 7.25% per annum and repayable in full in
February 2021. Subsequent to the financial position date, the Group tepaid an amount of USD7 million and
signed a new agreement for the remaining balance to be repayable in full on 31 March 2022.

24 Murabaha payables

The Murabaha payables outstanding balance represent Islamic financings obtained in Kuwait Dinar from a local
bank, carrying effective profit rates of 3.25% to 4.5% (31 December 2019: 3% to 5.75%) per annum. These
financings are secured against pledge of cash in managed portfolio, certain financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, investment in associates,
investment properties and property and equipment (notes 12.1, 14, 17, 18, 20 and 21) and payable in various
instalments ending in March 2026.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

24 Murabaha payables (continued)
Murabaha payable are due as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Within one year 2,743,822 3,792,517
After one year 9,857,500 8,336,153
12,601,322 12,128,670

25 Share capital and share premium
As at 31 December 2020, the authorised, issued and paid up share capital of the Parent Company consists of
802,882,556 shares of 100 fils each (31 December 2019: 802,882,556 shates). All shares ate in cash.

The shate premium is non-distributable.

26 Treasury shares

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
Number of treasury shares 19,125,000 6,083,892
Percentage of ownership (%) 2.382% 0.758%
Market value (KD) 1,051,875 144,188
Cost (KD) 1,202,430 559,232

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares have been earmarked as non-
distributable.

27 Reserves

Legal reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company's Memorandum of Incorporation and Atticles
of Association, as amended, 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the sharcholders of the Parent
Company (before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration) is required to be
transferred to legal reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the
reserve totals 50% of the paid-up share capital.

Distribution of the reserve s limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid
up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of
that amount.

No transfer is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where cumulative losses
exist.

Voluntary reserve

The Parent Company’s Articles of Association, as amended, require that 10% of the profit for the year
attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company (before contributions to IKFAS, NLST, Zakat and
directors’ remuneration) should be transferred to voluntary reserve. There are no restrictions on distribution
of voluntary reserve.

No transfer is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where cumulative losses
exist.
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28 Share based payments

During 2019, the Parent Company obtained approval of the general assembly of the shareholders to establish
an employee stock option plan (ESOP) to reward the performance of its employees and the executive board
members. The final approval of the ESOP was obtained from the regulatory authority in January 2021. The
Parent Company granted the shares to the employees during 2020. Under the ESOP, the vesting conditions
include the performance of the employees as well as the financial performance of the Parent Company. The
shares are granted to the employees annually at no cost and vest on the dates of the general assembly in the
following third, fourth and fifth years in predetermined ratios. While the ESOP has no specific time limit, a
maximum of 10% of the Parent Company’s share capital at the inception of the plan can be granted. The shares
granted will be given to the employees either from the treasury shares or issue of new shares.

Pursuant to the plan, the board of directors approved to make available 2,407,333 shares for the year ended 31
December 2019. The fair value of the shares on the grant date was KID0.0375 and, therefore, the Group

recognised an expense of KID18,205 in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

No options exercised or forfeited during the year.

29 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows:

Due to Term Murabaha
banks loans payables Total
KD KD KD KD
Balance at 1 January 2020 1,930,923 17,974,500 12,128,670 32,034,093
Cash flows:
¢ Repayment (1,976,736) (13,029,500) (4,671,631) (19,677,867)
e Proceeds 45,813 6,430,200 5,100,000 11,576,013
Non-cash items:
o Foreign currency differences - (6,950) 44,283 37,333
31 December 2020 - 11,368,250 12,601,322 23,969,572
Balance at 1 January 2019 4,019,970 17,880,000 4,489,119 26,369,089
Cash flows:
¢ Repayment (2,089,042) (4,856,000) (1,749,850) (8,694,892)
e  Proceeds - 4,951,500 9,412,624 14,364,124
Non-cash items:
o  Foreign currency differences (5) (1,000) (3,223) (4,228)
31 December 2019 1,930,923 17,974,500 12,128,670 32,034,093

30 Proposed dividends and annual general assembly

Subsequent to the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the board of directors have proposed
not to distribute any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020. This proposal is subject to the approval
of the general assembly and the regulatory authorities.

The Annual General Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 8 June 2020 approved the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 without dividend. Further, the annual
general assembly approved the boatd of directors’ remuneration of KID36,000 for the year ended 31 December
2019 which has been recorded under the general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of the current year.
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31 Fiduciary accounts
Investment portfolios managed by the Group and assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity and related
liabilities are not treated as the Group's assets or liabilities and, accordingly, are not included in the consolidated

financial position. Total fiduciary assets as at the financial position date were KID32,213,170 (31 December
2019: KD33,483,866).

32 Segmental information

Operating segments are identified based on internal management reporting information that is regulatly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its
performance, and is reconciled to Group profit or loss.

The Group’s principal activities, significant assets and liabilides are catried out and located in Kuwait, GCC,
Middle East, USA and Europe. The Group operates in four business segments; instalment credit, investments,
financial brokerage and real estate. The segmental analysis of total tevenues, profit for the year, total assets and
total liabilities for the business segments are as follows:

Instalment Financial
credit Investments brokerage Real estate Total
KD KD KD KD KD
Year ended 31 December 2020
Total revenues 687,075 4,853,485 131,660 142,616 5,814,836
Loss for the year (7,237,500) (1,409,103) (182,158) (327,885) (9,156,646)
As at 31 December 2020
Total assets 2,094,135 133,729,888 11,287,988 8,285,676 155,397,687
Total liabilities 560,295 30,658,709 708,198 847,570 32,774,772
Net assets 1,533,840 103,071,179 10,579,790 7,438,106 122,622,915
Year ended 31 December 2019
Total revenues 1,749,362 12,211,277 416,497 149,736 14,526,872
(Loss)/profit for the year (6,677,930) 8,248,192 73,111 (103,362) 1,540,011
As at 31 December 2019
Total assets 7,266,362 128,638,475 11,333,180 8,429,896 155,667,913
Total liabilities 2,806,417 42,902,244 752,817 726,316 47,187,794
Net assets 4,459,945 85,736,231 10,580,363 7,703,580 108,480,119

33 Related party balances and transactions

Related parties represent associates, major sharcholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group,
and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of
these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions between the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries which are related parties of the Parent Company have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

Details of significant related party balances and transactions are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD

Balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position

Instalment credit debtors - gross (note 13) 557,870 664,866
Due from related parties - net (note 15) 1,406,583 1,195,897
Disposed of non-current assets held for sale (note 18.1.1) 12,015,000 -
Due to shareholders (note 22) 361,314 361,314

Due to related parties (note 22) 93,542 3,547,720
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

33 Related party balances and transactions (continued)
Year ended
31 Dec.
2020
KD

Transactions included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
Income from installment credit debtors 33,209
Rental income 33,255
Interest income 245,638
Impairment loss 4,567,654
General and administrative expenses 26,944
Finance costs 93,936
Key management compensation:
Salaries and other short-term benefits 905,736
End of service benefits 53,435
Board of directors’ remuneration (included in in general and administrative
expenses) 36,000
Other committees’ remunerations (included in general and administrative
expenses) 22,350
Share based compensation 16,345

Year ended
31 Dec.
2019
KD

47,991
25,768
610,768

73,638
3,208

949,371
54,100

42,000

34 Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market tisk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent Company’s board of directors sets out policies for reducing each of the risks discussed below.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.

341 Market risk

a) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the GCC, other Middle Eastern countries, Europe and USA and is exposed to
foreign currency risk arising from various foreign currency exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-IQuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored in
accordance with the Group’s risk management policies. Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures
distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows.

The Group had the following net significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies, translated into

Kuwaiti Dinar at the closing rate:

31 Dec.
2020
Equivalent

KD
US Dollar 28,256,162
Lebanese Lira 4,171,230
Great Britain Pound 6,935,191
Egyptian Pound 2,531,791
UAE Dirham 707,040
Saudi Riyal 38,371
Euro 6,684,474
Omani Riyal 55,804
Jordanian Dinar 701,310

Norway Krona 466,119

31 Dec.
2019
Equivalent
KD

21,547,955
3,734,896
6,904,269
2,441,700

906,140
36,003
10,529,417
55,770
732,929
320,187
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
34.1  Market risk (continued)

a) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 2% (2019: 2%) increase and decrease in the KD against
above foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary assets and liabilities and adjusts their translation at the yeat-end for a 2% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity and a negative number indicates
decrease in profit and equity. All other variables ate held constant. There has been no change in the methods
and the assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis.

+2 % Impact +2 % Impact -2 % Impact -2 % Impact
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD
Profit for the year 231,845 156,849 (231,845) (156,849)
Equity 779,105 787,336 (779,105) (787,336)

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the
fair values of financial instruments. As the Group is not exposed to a significant interest rate risk on interest
bearing assets, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its borrowings which are both at fixed
rate and floating interest rate. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between
fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Group has established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the
interest rate gaps for stipulated periods.

Positions are monitored continuously and hedging strategies used, if required, to ensure positions are
maintained within established limits.

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a
present value calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a
fixed rate instrument carried at amortised cost and a current rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument
carried at fair value.

The Group’s interest rate exposure based on earlier of contractual repricing arrangements and maturity at 31
December 2020 was as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
341 Market risk (continued)

b) Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the result for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates of +1% and 1% (2019: +1% and —1%) with effect from the beginning of the year. These changes are
considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market condition. The calculations are
based on the Group’s financial instruments held at each financial position date. All other variables are held
constant.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
+1% 1% +1% 1%
KD KD KD KD
Resuits for the year (93,901) 93,901 (174,292) 174,292

c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments are
classified either as investments at fair value through profit or loss and investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
consolidated financial statements date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the effect on the profit for the year and equity for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 would have been as follows:

Profit for the year Equity
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss *+1,150,324 +1,450,486 - -
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income - - 18,786,682 +6,650,148

34.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one patty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or Groups of
customers in specific locations or business through diversification of its activities. It also obtains security when
appropriate.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the
financial position date, as summarised below:



nancint Grown toy
Consoildntsd Finanocint Statomoents
3 Becomber 2020

neing ond nvestment ~ HFEQ and s Bubs

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

34.2  Credit risk (continued)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
Cash and cash equivalents 11,338,787 7,898,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 2,577,267
Instalment credit debtors 622,849 4,128,653
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) 8,718,900 10,635,479
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (note 17) 4,375,074 7,175,309
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,049,853 4 968,961
Total 29,105,463 37,384,593

As of 31 December 2020, instalment credit debtors and restricted cash and cash equivalents amount of KD Nil
respectively, (31 December 2019: KID3,137,980 and IKID2,577,267) are located in Lebanon. Most of the global
credit rating agencies significantly lowered the ratings of Lebanon because of the consequences of the current

economic and political events.

However, based on management assessment, the material expected credit loss impact arising from such
financial assets have been recognised in these consolidated financial statements.

34.3 Concentration of assets

The distribution of assets by geogtaphic region is as follows:

Other Middle
Eastern Europe and
Kuwait GCC countries other USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD

At 31 December 2020
Cash and cash

equivalents 4,106,070 5,745,786 1,172,505 - 314,426 11,338,787
Restricted cash and

cash equivalents - - 1,297,562 - - 1,297,562
Instaiment credit

debtors 622,849 - - - - 622,849
Financial assets at

FVTPL 8,444,737 394,485 1,376,035 68,826 1,219,155 11,503,238
Accounts receivable

and other assets 999,509 805,373 1,401,941 43,960 799,070 4,049,853
Properties held for

trading - 707,040 - - - 707,040
Financial assets at

FVTOCI 46,456,479 1,390,913 55,807 14,704,445 25,259,179 87,866,823
Investment in associates 28,761,646 - - - - 28,761,646
Investment in real estate

under development 3,946,689 - 1,443,978 - - 5,390,667
Investment properties 1,537,724 - - - - 1,637,724
Property and equipment 2,161,962 33,503 126,033 - - 2,321,498
Total 97,037,665 9,077,100 6,873,861 14,817,231 27,591,830 155,397,687
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

34.3  Concentration of assets (continued)

Other Middle
Eastern Europe and
Kuwait GCC countries other USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD

At 31 December 2019
Cash and cash

equivalents 1,568,670 4,992,057 1,321,947 - 16,250 7,898,924
Restricted cash and

cash equivalents - - 2,677,267 - - 2,577,267
Instalment credit
debtors 990,673 - 3,137,980 - - 4,128,653
Financial assets at

FVTPL 10,806,087 134,965 1,710,216 68,781 1,784,810 14,504,859
Accounts receivable

and other assets 1,269,017 2,399,568 1,300,376 - - 4,968,961
Properties held for
trading - 906,140 - - - 906,140
Financial assets at

FVTOCI 23,989,849 1,688,275 319,329 19,141,128 21,362,902 66,501,483
Investment in associates 44,631,874 - - - - 44,631,874
Investment in real estate
under

development 4,122,533 - 1,191,141 - - 5,313,674
Investment properties 1,596,464 - - - - 1,596,464
Property and equipment 2,500,973 1,769 136,872 - - 2,639,614
Total 91,476,140 10,122,774 11,695,128 19,209,909 23,163,962 155,667,913

344  Liquidity risk
Liquidity tisk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this risk,
management has arranged diversified funding soutces, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors

liquidity on a daily basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The maturities of assets
and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from the financial position date to
the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile for available for sale investments is determined based on
management's estimate of liquidation of those investments. Maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31
December 2020:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
344  Liquidity risk (continued)
Sub-total
Up to 1-3 3-12 Up to Over
1 month months months 1 year 1 year Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
ASSETS
Cash and cash
equivalents 10,641,276 697,511 - 11,338,787 - 11,338,787
Restricted cash and
cash equivalents
(see below) 1,297,562 - - 1,297,562 - 1,297,562
Installment credit
debtors 289,765 - - 289,765 333,084 622,849
Financial assets at
FVTPL 11,503,238 - - 11,503,238 - 11,503,238
Accounts receivable
and other assets 649,495 140,209 3,260,149 4,049,853 - 4,049,853
Properties held for
trading - - 707,040 707,040 - 707,040
Financial assets at
FVTOCI - - - - 87,866,823 87,866,823
Investment in
associates - - - - 28,761,646 28,761,646
Investment in real
estate under
development - - - - 5,390,667 5,390,667
Investment
properties - - - - 1,537,724 1,537,724
Property and
equipment - - - - 2,321,498 2,321,498
Total assets 24,381,336 837,720 3,967,189 29,186,245 126,211,442 155,397,687
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
and other liabilities 822,692 1,153,546 2,538,719 4,514,957 2,805,281 7,320,238
Term loans 125,000 6,368,250 375,000 6,868,250 4,500,000 11,368,250
Murabaha payables 181,250 181,250 2,381,322 2,743,822 9,857,500 12,601,322
Provision for
employees’ end of
service benefits - - - - 1,484,962 1,484,962
Total liabilities 1,128,942 7,703,046 5,295,041 14,127,029 18,647,743 32,774,772

As of 31 December 2020, there are certain restrictions on the liquidity of cash and cash equivalents amount of
KID1,297,562 (31 December 2019: KID2,577,267) (note 12.2).

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

34.4  Liquidity risk (continued)

Sub-total Up
Up to 1-3 312 to Over
1 month months months 1 year 1 year Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD

ASSETS
Cash and cash

equivalents 7,898,924 - - 7,898,924 - 7,898,924
Restricted cash and

cash equivalents

(see below) - 2,577,267 - 2,577,267 - 2,577,267
Installment credit

debtors 683,380 349,127 2,003,766 3,036,273 1,092,380 4,128,653
Financial assets at

fair value through

profit or loss 14,504,859 - - 14,504,859 - 14,504,859
Accounts receivable

and other assets 992,013 184,622 3,792,326 4,968,961 - 4,968,961
Properties held for
trading - - 906,140 906,140 - 906,140
Financial assets at fair

value through other

comprehensive

income - - - - 66,501,483 66,501,483
Investment in
associates - - - - 44,631,874 44 631,874
Investment in real

estate under

development - - - - 5,313,674 5,313,674
Investment
properties - - - - 1,596,464 1,596,464
Property and
equipment - - - - 2,639,614 2,639,614
Total assets 24,079,176 3,111,016 6,702,232 33,892,424 121,775,489 155,667,913
LIABILITIES
Due to banks 1,930,923 - - 1,930,923 - 1,930,923
Accounts payable

and other liabilities 660,291 4,610,727 5,509,782 10,780,800 2,891,085 13,671,885
Term loans - 4,044,500 5,210,000 9,254,500 8,720,000 17,974,500
Murabaha payables - 552,486 3,240,031 3,792,517 8,336,153 12,128,670

Provision for
employees’ end of
service benefits - - - - 1,481,816 1,481,816

Total liabilities 2,591,214 9,207,713 13,959,813 25,758,740 21,429,054 47,187,794
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

34.4  Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flow is as follows:

Sub-total
Up to 1-3 312 Up to Over
1 month months months 1 year 1 year Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
31 December 2020
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and
other liabilities 822,692 1,153,546 2,538,719 4,514,957 2,805,281 7,320,238
Term loans 130,313 6,474,388 390,938 6,995,639 4,691,250 11,686,889
Murabaha payables 188,953 188,953 2,468,108 2,846,014 10,227,994 13,074,008
Provision for employees’
end of service benefits - - - - 1,484,962 1,484,962
1,141,958 7,816,887 5,397,765 14,356,610 19,209,487 33,566,097
31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Due to banks 2,032,297 - - 2,032,297 - 2,032,297
Accounts payable and
other liabilities 660,291 4,610,727 5,509,782 10,780,800 2,891,085 13,671,885
Term loans - 4,207,202 5,519,715 9,726,917 9,242,470 18,969,387
Murabaha payables - 573,303 3,393,478 3,966,781 8,738,822 12,705,603
Provision for employees’
end of service benefits - - - - 1,481,816 1,481,816
2,692,588 9,391,232 14,422 975 26,506,795 22,354,193 48,860,988

35 Fair value measurement

35.1  Fair value hierarchy
Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
are Grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability
of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those detived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (1.e. derived from prices); and

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable mputs).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Fair value measurement (continued)

35.2 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The catrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position may also be categorised as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
Financial assets:
At amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 11,338,787 7,898,924
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,297,562 2,577,267
Installments credit debtors 622,849 4,128,653
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,049,853 4,968,961
At fair value:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,503,238 14,504,859
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 87,866,823 66,501,483
Total 116,679,112 100,580,147
Financial liabilities:
At amortised cost:
Due to banks - 1,930,923
Accounts payable and other liabilities 7,320,238 13,671,885
Term loans 11,368,250 17,974,500
Murabaha payables 12,601,322 12,128,670
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 1,484,962 1,481,816
Total 32,774,772 47,187,794

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of

significant input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated statement of
financial position are Grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

31 December 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss:
Local quoted shares 675,502 - - 675,502
Foreign quoted shares 336,504 - - 336,504
Investment in managed portfolios 8,225,115 - - 8,225,115
Foreign unquoted shares - - 1,772,332 1,772,332
investment fund - 493,785 - 493,785
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income:
Local quoted shares 37,093,806 - - 37,093,806
Local unquoted shares - - 4,987,599 4,987,599
Foreign unquoted shares - - 38,792,528 38,792,528
Investment in managed portfolios 4,280,638 - - 4,280,638
Debit instruments - - 2,617,816 2,617,816
investment funds - 94,436 - 94,436

50,611,565 588,221 48,170,275 99,370,061
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Fair value measurement (continued)

35.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

31 December 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss:
Local quoted shares 816,860 - - 816,860
Foreign quoted shares 348,388 - - 348,388
investment in managed portfolios 10,635,479 - - 10,635,479
Foreign unquoted shares - - 2,115,357 2,115,357
Investment fund - 588,775 - 588,775
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income:
Local quoted shares 4,134,661 - - 4,134,661
Local unquoted shares - - 12,679,879 12,679,879
Foreign unquoted shares - - 39,869,688 39,869,688
Investment in managed portfolios 7,076,658 - - 7,076,658
Debit instruments - - 2,641,946 2,641,946
Investment funds - 98,651 - 98,651

23,012,046 687,426 57,306,870 81,006,342

During the year, local quoted shares classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income have been transferred from level 3 to level 1.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value measurement
of level 2 and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs
and fair value, are set out below.

Financial assets in level 3:

The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, whete required.
Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of
maximising the use of market-based information.

The valuation techniques used for instruments categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are described below:

a) Unquoted equity securities are valued using cash flow projections based on financial estimates approved by
senior management. The growth rates used to arrive at the terminal value ranged from 2.5%. Further the
revenue growth projections are based on the assessment of the future business growth.

Key assumptions used in fair value calenlations

The calculation of fair value is most sensitive to the following assumptions:
= Discount rates;
»  Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period;
= Tocal inflation rates.

Discount rates
Discount rates are calculated by using risk free rate, equity market risk premium, beta factor and company
specific risk premium (alpha factor).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Fair value measurement (continued)
35.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

Market share assumptions
These assumptions, as well as use of industry data for growth rates, are important as the entity’s relative position
to its competitors might change over the budget period.

Drgjected growth rates and local inflation rates
Assumptions are based on references from published industry research repotts.

b) Investments in funds have been valued based on Net Asset Value (NAV) of the fund provided by the fund

manager.

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change
significantly amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, total assets, total liabilities or
total equity.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques duting the year.

Level 3 fair value measurements

The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs
that are not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from
beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
Opening balance 57,306,870 62,138,109
Change in fair value (8,864,899) 819,191
Sales / Transfer (13,206,397) (31,403,471)
Purchases 12,934,701 27,601,345
Impairment of financial assets at FVTOCI - (1,848,304)
Closing balance 48,170,275 57,306,870

Non-financial instruments
Investment properties wete fair valued at 31 December 2020 and are classified under level 3 fair value hierarchy
and reconciliation is provided in note 20.

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation of non-financial assets:

Fair value of investment properties were determined using Mark to Market method, conducted by valuators
considering transaction prices of the property and similar properties. The significant unobservable valuation
input used for the purpose of valuation is the market price per square foot / meter and varies from property
to property. A reasonable change in this input would result in an equivalent amount of change in fair value.

36 Capital risk management
The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide adequate return to its shareholders through the optimisation of the capital structure.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

36 Capital risk management (continued)

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Due to banks - 1,930,923
Term loans (note 23) 11,368,250 17,974,500
Murabaha payables (note 24) 12,601,322 12,128,670
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 12.1) (11,338,787) (7,898,924)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 12.2) (1,297,562) (2,577,267)
Net debt 11,333,223 21,557,902
Equity 122,622,915 108,480,119
Net debt to equity ratio 9.24% 19.87%

37 Capital commitments
At the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had capital commitments amounting
to KD282,396 (31 December 2019: KD282,396) for real estate under development.

38 Division of the Parent Company

During 2018, the Parent Company's Board of Directors approved a proposal for the division of the Parent
Company into two companies by transferring assets from the Parent Company to the new company. The Parent
Company will continue to conduct all of its current activities and the activity of the new company will be of a
holding company. On division, each shareholder of the Parent Company will receive a share in the new
company.

On 7 November 2019, the Directors’ suggested alternatives in respect of the division were discussed and it
approved a proposal to decrease the share capital from KD80 million to KID29 million through a distribution
of shares of a subsidiary to the shareholders of the Parent Company. Therefore, a request was submitted to the
CMA for approval.

On 19 February 2020, the CMA indicated that after it had studied extensively the request submitted by the
Parent Company, it had concluded that the transaction, in terms of legal adoption and technical procedure, is
not a reduction of the share capital in excess of the need, and that the closest description appropriate to it in
the form and content is a "Division", and that the CMA is currently working to prepare rules for companies
division. Based on the foregoing, the CMA is unable to approve the Parent Company’s request to reduce the
share capital, for the reasons mentioned above. Accordingly, the transaction will be postponed until the CMA
completes preparing these rules.

As of the date of the consolidated financial position, no effect of the above has been recognised in these
consolidated financial statements.
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39 Effect of COVID-19

The outbreak of Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and related global responses have caused material
disruptions to businesses around the world, leading to an economic slowdown. Global and local equity markets
have experienced significant volatility and weakness. While governments and central banks have reacted with
various financial packages and reliefs designed to stabilise economic conditions, the duration and extent of the
impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, as well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses,
remains unclear at this time. Management of the Group is actively monitoring the effects COVID-19 may have
on its business operations.

In light of COVID-19, the Group has considered whether any adjustments and changes in judgments, estimates
and risk management are required to be considered and reported in the consolidated financial statements. Below
are the key assumptions about the future and other key sources of estimation that may have a significant risk
of causing material adjustments to the consolidated financial statements:

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group has analyzed impairment indicators arising and significant uncertainties around its investment
properties, especially arising as a result of COVID-19.

Accordingly, the Group has performed an impairment assessment of its investment properties, considering the
negative impact of COVID-19 on market value of properties and concluded that recoverable amounts of
certain properties are lower than their carrying values as at the end of the year. As a result, during the year the
Group has identified an impairment loss amounting to IKID134,160 in respect of investment in real estate under
development in these consolidated financial statements.

Fair valuation of financial assets
The uncertainties caused by COVID-19 have required the Group to reassess the inputs and assumptions used
for the determination of fair value of financial assets at FVIPL.

The Group has determined the fair value of its equity securities, managed funds, fixed income securities and
equity participations in real estate properties based on most recent market information relating to the respective
investments and recognized resulting unrealized loss in these consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

The Group has performed an assessment of whether it is a going concern in the light of current economic
conditions and all available information about future tisks and uncertainties. The projections have been
prepared covering the Group’s future performance, capital and liquidity. The impact of COVID-19 may
continue to evolve, but at the present time the projections show that the Group has ample resources to continue
in operational existence and its going concern position remains largely unaffected. As a result, these
consolidated financial statements has been approptiately prepared on a going concern bass.

Further, management is aware that a continued and persistent disruption could negatively impact the
consolidated financial position, performance and cash flows of the Group in the future. Management continues
to closely monitor the market trends, its supply-chain, industry reports and cash flows to minimise any negative
impact on the Group.

40 Comparative amounts
Certain other comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the cutrent year,
and such reclassification does not affect previously reported net assets, net equity and net results for the year.



